IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID YOUNG

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO: 73,106

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the 15th Judicial Circuit In and For Palm Beach County, Florida Circuit Case No: 86-8682 CF)

Counsel for Appellant

William M. Lasley 215 N. Olive Ave., Suite 130 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 832-5354

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Palm Beach County grand jury charged David Young by indictment with the first degree premeditated murder of Clarence John Bell while armed with a shotgun, burglary of a conveyance while armed, and possession of a short barrelled shotgun. The jury convicted Mr. Young of the burglary and possession as charged, and of first degree murder without specifying premeditated or felony murder. (R3871). After a Phase II trial, the jury recommended death, ten to two. (R4094).

Mr. Young timely filed his Notice of Appeal for his conviction of first degree murder, and burglary of a conveyance; this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of August 31, 1986, Appellant left his community of Riviera Beach, Florida and drove north approximately twelve miles to Jupiter, Florida. Young, who was twenty years old at the time, was accompanied by Jerry Saffold, Jerry Harris, and Tony Holmes, all juveniles. Appellant drove his car and carried with him a sawed off shotgun he had brought with him from his home. (R3343). As they drove, Young explained to his companions that the purpose of the shotgun was to shoot back at anyone who shot at him. (R3384). Harris had suggested "getting a car" after which Appellant drove to the Plantation Condominium parking lot in Jupiter. Harris and one juvenile exited and approached a car which Harris liked. They looked over

the car and returned and got Young. (R3424). This was established at trial by testimony of Saffold and Holmes. Each testified that the other approached the car with Harris while he remained in Young's car. Saffold denies seeing what occurred at the Trans-Am, but heard breaking noises. (R3355). Holmes states that Appellant stood by the Trans-Am while Harris entered and attempted to steal it. (R3425).

Holmes and Saffold both testify to hearing a white man come from the house. When the boys heard the man approach, they all returned to Appellant's car. They observed the man, Clarence John Bell carrying a revolver. (R3427). The man put his gun to the windshield and ordered Young from the car. When Appellant exited, Mr. Bell placed the gun to Appellant's head and ordered all the boys out of the car. He informed them if they failed to comply he would blow Appellant's head off. (R3043). Bell told the boys if he shot, he would shoot Appellant. (R3425). said he saw Appellant take the shotgun with him and place it by his side while he laid on the ground. (R2897). This was pursuant to Bells direct order. Bell had the boys on the ground a long time, calling them names and told them that if any one of you niggers run. I am going to shoot him (Appellant) in the head. (R3448). Both Holmes and Saffold testified at trial that Harris started to move and Bell shot in the ground toward Harris. shot was approximately ten feet from Appellant's head. (R3433). Harris ran and Bell fired two more shots toward him. (R3434). Appellant fired once from the ground where he laid, striking Bell

(R3436). Bell pointed the gun at Appellant and ordered him around the car. Appellant walked around the car, ducking, and fired a second shot. Neither Saffold or Holmes testified at trial that they observed Appellant reload. Appellant, Holmes and Saffold fled in the car. Harris ran from the scene on foot. As Young drove away, he threw the shotgun from the car. (R3439).

Holmes stated he wanted to exit the car but Appellant refused to stop the car because he was afraid he would be caught and sent to prison. (R3440).

Holmes testified that sometime before the shooting began, he heard Appellant complain of chest pains to Bell. (R3492). During the chase Holmes said Appellant claimed that was in order to get Bell closer to Appellant to afford a better shot. (R3441). Bell did not move closer. (R3456). Bell fired his three shots after Appellant's statement that his chest hurt. (R3656).

Holmes stated that Young brought the shotgun in case they became involved in a fight with another gang. (R3460).

The State also presented testimony from Clarence John Bell's son, Michael, who was present during part of the confrontation. (R2278-2424).

Mike Bell stated his father woke him at 2:00am on August 31, 1986 stating that he should "come on, someone is trying to steal the car". (R2283). He followed him father out to the parking lot and to the Appellant's car. (R2292). No one was near Mr. Bell's car, Appellant and his friends were already inside Appellant's car. Mr. Bell approached Appellant's car and ordered Appellant

to put down his gun. (R2293). Mr. Bell had carried his gun out in his right hand, holding it behind his right leg. (R2294). Appellant asked to leave stating they thought the car was a friend's, Mr. Bell said no, they weren't going to steal his car. (R2296).

Mr. Bell forced Young out of the car and had him lay on his stomach. Mike Bell saw his father move around the driver's door and place his gun to Appellant's head and order the others out of the car or he would shoot Appellant. (R2299). After Mr. Bell got the others out and on the ground at the rear of the car, he told Mike to go in and call the police. (R2302). Mike Bell called and reported that they had caught someone tried to steal their car. (R2303). Mike grabbed a hammer and went back outside. His father than told him to turn on the car lights so they could see, and Mike went back in to get his keys. (R2304). Mike Bell testified that Appellant complained about his stomach, but his father ignored it. (R2307).

When Michael was returning he heard two or three shots, followed by clicking. Mike ran to his car door, but heard his father tell him to come there. He ran toward his father and heard another shot. (R2308). Although Michael had never heard a shotgun fired, he thought the clicking sounded like someone reloading a shotgun. (R2309). When questioned, Mike thought all the shots sounded the same, and he was unable to distinguish any as louder than any others. (R2310).

Mike Bell saw someone exit Appellant's car, play with the

battery cables, and drive off. He followed (R2312) until he turned the chase over to the police. (R2343).

Mike Bell viewed the Appellant's car at the police department. (R2350). Mike Bell indicated he saw a new pair of Nike high top tennis shoes (R2354) that they belonged to him (R2350) and had been in the Trans-Am prior to 2:00am, August 31, 1989. (R2355).

Detective Friedman testified for the State and presented a detailed diagram of the Appellant's car after the incident. The diagram showed the nature and location of all contents. No sneakers were on the diagram. (R2535) and no sneakers were listed in the return on the search warrant. (R2538-2541).

Holmes and Saffold both stated that it was Harris's intention to steal a fast car. No mention was made about stealing any articles from the car. The State avoided asking either Holmes or Saffold about the tennis shoes which were allegedly taken from John Bell's car and found in Appellant's car.

On cross examination, Mike Bell stated he never saw Appellant with a gun. (R2397). Mike saw his father place the gun approximately a foot from Appellant's head and threaten to shoot Appellant. (R2058). Bell also stated that before he had talked to anyone regarding his testimony, he had identified the clicking sound as an empty chamber in his father's gun (R2075-2076). Bell also said that there were four shots before the last, and that they all sounded the same. (R2419).

Detective Friedman was the crime scene investigator for the investigation. (R2427-2430). He recovered a 38 pistol from the ground near John Bell's body. (R2432). Friedman found shotgun pellets and five bullet fragments from the 38 pistol. Friedman recovered bolt cutters from Appellant's car, a screwdriver, pliers, and a live shotgun shell, but no tennis shoes. (R2462).

Although Saffold and Holmes maintained that Clarence John Bell shot first, the State attempted to establish through the testimony of several witnesses that the first and last shots sounded much louder and the middle three were quieter. no expert testified that they had tested the specific weapons for sound, several witnesses testified that the first and last louder shots sounded like shotgun blasts, while the middle shots were more like pistol fire. Trooper Brinker was the security guard on duty at the Condominium and heard the shots from approximately (R2794). Over objection, Brinker hundred yards away. testified that based upon his experience with weapons, shotguns sounded louder then 38 pistols. (R2769). Further, he heard a loud blast (R2769) followed by two quieter shots and another loud blast. (R2774). Robert Melhorn lived next door to the Bells and heard a "loud boom" (R2816) which he considers "louder than a pistol." (R2818). He heard the loud shot from inside his patio, about ninety feet from the shooting. (R2831). Melhorn heard the blast followed by "at least two clicks, and a pop, then another loud boom. (R2831). These clicks could not be heard from four Christopher Griffiths hundred yards. (R2834). heard the

disturbance from his home approximately seventy yards from the parking lot. (R2623). He heard an "irrational" man threaten to use a 357 pistol to kill. (R2623). He heard these threats mixed with "motherfucker" and other expletives. (R2624). Griffiths testified he had handled shotguns and pistols before. (R2625). Griffiths heard five shots. A loud blast, three quick shots, and a second loud blast. (R2631). The first and fifth shots were perceptively louder, but not much louder. (R2632). Griffiths would not say the louder shots were from a shotgun, but only that the middle three sounded like pistol fire. (R2633). Dana Thomas heard shots from her upstairs window. She had first heard arguing for as long as twenty minutes. (R2968). threats "if you move I'll blow your head off." (R2969). Dana had heard shotguns on at least one other occasions and they had sounded very loud. (R2972). She also said that she had fired pistols that had sounded like a cap gun. (R2974). She testified that the first sound was shotgun. (R2974). She saw a flash from the front of the car. (2975). The first was followed by three small flashes (R2979) followed by another loud shot. (R2982). On cross, Dana Thomas indicated that she observed the argument for ten to fifteen minutes, and that she heard Clarence John Bell state he had been watching the boys fool with the car for twenty minutes before that. (R3004).

Dr. Hobin, the medical examiner, testified that the cause of death of Clarence John Bell was a shotgun shot injury to the chest. (R2428) with a second serious, but not necessarily fatal

injury to the lower abdomen area. (R2895-2910). Dr. Hobin gave a probable distance of ten to fourteen feet (R2925) as the range from which the fatal shot was fired. Hobin also testified to a gun shot tatoo injury to the left side of Bell's face. This injury is an injury caused by grains of unexploded gunpowder striking the face. (R2929). The injury is produced by gunpowder coming from the back of a revolver. (R2930). Dr. Hobin reasoned that this evidence indicated to him that the revolver was fired at least once from a position of two inches from Bell's face. (R2934). Dr. Hobin speculated that this indicated that Bell was down and wounded when he fired. (R2936-2937). This testimony was accepted over objection although it was not given within a reasonable degree of medical certainty. (R2938).

The issue of who fired first is relative to the Appellant's efforts to show he fired in self-defense; that having heard a shot fired at Harris that Appellant reasonably believed John Bell was going to make good his threat and blow Appellant's head off. Evidence of the sequence of shots was available from a 911 tape of Griffiths phone call to the police. (R2697). The State and Defense agreed to have the FBI perform an enhancement and analysis of the tape to discover which weapon was fired first. The defense counsel and the prosecutor heard the tape. As the tape was being reviewed prior to the FBI's testing, the track containing the recording of the shots had been erased. Based upon this fact, the defense asked for and filed a Motion in Limine to exclude the tape. (R4322-4327). During the hearing on

the motion, Carlos Vasquez was qualified as an expert in the installation, maintenance, and design of the Dictaphone 4000, the model used in Jupiter Police Department on August 31, 1986. (R169-170, 172). Vasquez offered unrebutted testimony that the erasure could not have been by accident, (R181, 189). found no bad faith in the erasure, loss or destruction of the original tape. (R219-220). The court granted the Motion in Limine refusing to admit a copy of tape which could not be tested. (R248). In doing so, the court noted that had the State intentionally lost or deprived the Defendant of this evidence, dismissed charge should be because the intentional destruction of the evidence constituted a deprivation of the client's right to a fair trial.

Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss Count I of the Indictment, On October 25, 1987 (R4428-4430). The court denied this motion. On August 31, 1986, the Appellant was first questioned at Riviera Beach Police Headquarters. He was questioned by Detective Murray of the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office. Detective Martin of Jupiter Police was also present. Defendant was Mirandacized, and did not to give any incriminating statements. This statement was not recorded.

Detective Murray had the Appellant accompany him to the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office under the pretext of identifying his car. Once there he Mirandacized Appellant who essentially gave the same story as before. This statement was taped. After sometime, there is a break in the tape. After the hiatus of the

tape, Detective Murray returns to the tape and indicates that the Investigators have obtained conflicting stories from Harris and Saffold. This information was immediately followed by Murray's reference to the phone call which he was going to make to the State Attorney's Office and how important Appellant's cooperation was.

At this point, Appellant made incriminating statements including the facts that he had lied on the first statement and that he had actually fired the fatal shots. After the statement, Appellant was booked on charges of second degree murder and bond was set in the amount of \$10,000.00.

The Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress alleging that during the hiatus in the tape Appellant had been promised by Murray and Martin that if he truthfully testified that he would be charged with second degree murder and that bond would be set. His mother, who was present at the Sheriffs Department also said she heard these statements. Both Officers denied on direct examination that these statements were made. On crossexamination, Detective Murray admitted that these matters were discussed in some fashion during the hiatus. Although Judge Cohen was concerned about these statements and "suspicious" that the charge actually filed was second degree murder "suspicious" that given the circumstances, bond was set, he ruled the statement admissable and voluntary.

The State chose not to introduce the statement directly into evidence. However, they called Detective Murray to establish the

fact that Defendant admitted lying in the first statement, and that he actually admitted firing the fatal shots.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

GUILT ARGUMENT

The evidence is insufficient to support the convictions of first degree premeditated murder, and burglary of a conveyance. The evidence at trial showed clearly that Clarence John Bell was shot by the Appellant after one of Appellant's juvenile companions had bungled an attempt to steal Mr. Bell's car.

The Appellant did not know the victim. Appellant was not hired to execute the victim. Appellant had no plan to kill anyone. Mr. Bell was killed merely because of his overzealous efforts to restrain the Appellant from leaving the scene of Harris's attempted auto theft.

Appellant is not guilty of the underlying felony, burglary of a conveyance for the following reasons.

- 1. The evidence indicates that the attempted auto theft was committed by the juvenile, Harris. Young was a mere onlooker, and did not actively assist or participate in Harris's attempt to steal the car.
- 2. The evidence indicates that neither the Appellant nor Harris had any other motive in approaching the car other than to steal it. There was no proof which could withstand examination, that anyone wanted to burglarize the car. The State's technical argument that anyone who attempts to commit the third degree felony of auto theft, must necessarily commit burglary of a conveyance is an effort to extend the felony-murder rule where

the legislature did not intend. Much testimony, time and consideration was given to the State's efforts to prove that the object of the burglary was a pair of sneakers. The burglary of the sneakers was never charged until trial, and was not supported by the evidence.

Appellant also contends that the intimidation, threats, and provocation of the victim, Clarence John Bell, constitutes a sufficient break in the chain of evidence brought about by the felony. As such, Bell's death was not a natural result of the underlying felony.

II.

PENALTY PHASE

A. Aggravated Circumstances

The sentencing order of the court inappropriately found two aggravating factors: "cold, calculated and premeditated manner without pretense" and "committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest." The only aggravating circumstances which can withstand any scrutiny is that the death was a result of and escape from the burglary of a conveyance. For the reasons outlined above, Appellant contends that he did not commit the underlying felony and denies that he was a principal.

B. <u>Mitigating Circumstances</u>

The court erred in failing to consider and weigh evidence that the victim's behavior was a provocation which gave rise to a "pretense of moral or legal justification." While the behavior

may not have justified a finding of not guilty based upon selfdefense, the fear that his life was going to be unnecessarily taken would offer a pretense of legal justification.

The death penalty is disproportionate in this case. Lloyd v. State, 524 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1988) requires that the imposition of the death penalty on the record contained herein is proportionately incorrect because the only aggravating circumstance which the State proved is that the death resulted as a consequence of the Appellant's participation in the underlying felony of burglary of a conveyance. Appellant presented nonstatutory mitigating evidence of: (a) the other participates were not charged; (b) Appellant was involved in church activities and gave evidence of redeeming qualities; (c) Appellant had shown an ability to conform to prison rules and regulations and could profit by rehabilitation efforts.

Young's death penalty has failed to meet the requirements of evenhanded, non-arbitrary application under <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976). The standard jury instructions are constitutionally infirm. The reporters are chalk full of cases recording the derelictions of attorneys in capital cases. Trial judges commit reversible error with astonishing regularity. The use of technical bars to appellate review has turned death penalty litigation into a maze of traps for the unweary.

ARGUMENT

I.

GUILT PHASE

A.

THE EVIDENCE AGAINST APPELLANT WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR PREMEDITATED FIRST DEGREE MURDER

Young was indicted and brought to trial for the crime of premeditated murder: "did unlawfully and from a premeditated design to effect the death of a human being, kill and murder Clarence John Bell, a human being by shooting the said Clarence John Bell with a shotgun..." (R4262).

The State abandoned any serious attempt of proving a premeditated design or plan to kill Clarence John Bell during voir-dire. In opening, the State again explained that they were proceeding under the felony murder rule. At closing, the State Attorney took great solace in the fact that the jury would get a single verdict form and they would not have to have an unanimous verdict; That "it could be any combination... some of you could think premeditated, so sign it. If the State has proved premeditated felony murder, sign the verdict form. It does not have to be unanimous as to Count II." (R3703).

The State presented its theory "over and over under felony murder that it does not matter who fired the gun first, it does not matter about any threats, you commit a burglary and during the commission of that burglary somebody dies while trying to

escape for the burglary of a car, that is felony murder, there is no self-defense, it does not matter who fired first, it does not matter what threats there are... that is the bottom line in this case." (R3717).

The State relied solely on the factors that:

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