IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,106

DAVID YOUNG	FILED
Appellant,	最终。3. 160余节C
vs.	APR 18 1990
STATE OF FLORIDA	PLEASE COLING
Appellee.	

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 441510 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellant

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

GUILT PHASE ISSUES

A. Sufficiency of the evidence for premeditated murder.

1. The record supports the position that the state presented sufficient evidence to support the first degree murder conviction on the basis that Appellant committed the murder with a premeditated design.

2. A special verdict form is not required under Florida Law for the jury to provide whether it found that a defendant's first degree murder conviction is based upon premeditated murder or felony murder.

B. Sufficiency of the evidence for felony-murder.

A person who is charged in an indictment with commission of a crime may be convicted on proof that he aided and abetted in the commission of such crime. The evidence presented at trial supports the conviction of felony-murder as a result of the underlying burglary of a conveyance.

C. Suppression of the confession.

No threats or promises were exerted upon Appellant to cause his statement to be invalidated. Appellant's statements were made voluntarily and were therefore admissible. Under the totality of the circumstances, the trial court's ruling must be affirmed.

D. Erasure of the 911 Reel-to-Reel Tape.

It cannot be said that the content of the 911 tape would have been favorable to the defense. Consequently, there was no violation of Appellant's due process and no grounds for reversal have been made.

- 19 -

E. Submission of the case to the jury on alternate theories.

No error occurred in the trial court's refusal to instruct that the jury must unanimously agree upon the particular theory upon which a verdict of first degree murder is based.

F. There was sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction of felony murder with burglary as the underlying felony.

PENALTY PHASE ISSUES

A. The record supports the finding that this murder was committed with **heightened premeditation**, sufficient to support the aggravating factor that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

B. The record supports the finding that the dominant motive for the murder of Mr. Bell was the elimination of a witness, and to make good his escape from the burglary scene before the police arrived. That the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest was proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. The trial court is entitled to use a presentence investigation report in capital cases. In the present case, it is clear that the trial court did not rely on improper facts taken from the PSI to arrive at the conclusion that the death sentence was the appropriate sentence to be imposed against Appellant. D. The trial court did not exhibit bias toward jurors who opposed the death penalty. The record is clear that the trial court applied the appropriate standard and ascertained itself that Appellant would be tried by a fair and impartial jury.

E. Florida's death penalty statutes have been found to be constitutional both facially and as applied in this case by this Court and the United States Supreme Court.

F. The death penalty is not disproportionate. The aggravating factors far outweigh any evidence submitted in support of mitigating.

G. Appellant's arguments on the constitutionality of the death penalty have been consistently rejected by the Courts.

ARGUMENT

I. GUILT PHASE ISSUES

A. THE RECORD DEMONSTRATES THAT THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR PREME-DITATED MURDER.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in denying dismiss the indictment charging him with his motion to premeditated murder. Appellant argues that the practice of allowing the State to proceed on alternative theories of premeditated and felony-murder, without specifying which theory it will proceed on, denies due process of law. The State points out that following its ruling in Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976), this Honorable Court has consistently found the argument to be without merit, Green v. State, 475 So.2d 235, 236 (Fla. 1985); Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936, 940 (Fla. 1984); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380, 384 (Fla. 1983); O'Callaghan v. State, 429 So.2d 691, 695 (Fla. 1983); Tafero v. State, 403 So.2d 355, 361 (Fla. 1981); Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159, 1164 (Fla. 1981).

In the case at bar, the indictment also charged Appellant with burglary of the automobile under count II. Thus, Appellant because of Florida's reciprocal discovery rules, had full knowledge of both the charges and the evidence that the state would submit at trial. It is abundantly clear, therefore, that Appellant was not prejudiced by the manner in which he was charged or by the instructions given to the jury on the crime as charged in the indictment, O'Callaghan, supra, at 695.

1. Premeditated murder.

Appellant claims that there was insufficient evidence of premeditation to sustain his conviction for first degree murder. Appellant's position is that, while he shot the deceased, he was provoked into shooting by the actions of the victim, or that he shot Mr. Bell in self defense. As the state will show below, Appellant's allegations are belied by the evidence presented to the jury. Further, the record supports the position that the State presented sufficient evidence to support the first degree murder conviction on the basis that Appellant committed the murder with a premeditated design.

It is settled law, that premeditation can be shown by circumstantial evidence. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911, 96 S.Ct. 3227, 49 L.Ed.2d 1221 (1976). Premeditation is a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for sufficient length of time to permit reflection, and in а pursuance of which an act of killing ensues. Weaver v. State, 220 So.2d 53 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied, 225 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1969). Premeditation does not have to be contemplated for any particular period of time before the act, and may occur a moment before the act. Premeditation must exist for such time before the homicide as will enable the accused to be conscious of the nature of the deed he is about to commit and the probable result to flow from it insofar as the life of his victim is concerned. Larry v. State, 104 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1958), Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964, 967 (Fla. 1981).

In the instant case, the evidence shows that after picking up the co-perpetrators, Appellant purposefully went back to his home to pick up the shotgun in preparation and for protection while assisting Harris in getting the fast car he wanted to take (R. 3343, 3421). Saffold testified that while in the car, Appellant announced to his co-perpetrators that he was bringing the shotgun because if someone pulled a gun on him and did not shoot him, he would shoot anyone that came in his way (R. 3384-85). This was corroborated by Holmes, who in his testimony stated that after the murder, when they were driving away with the police following them, Holmes became frightened and asked Appellant to stop the car and let him out, but Appellant responded he would not stop the car, because if he did, they would all go to prison. Then Appellant reminded Holmes and Saffold of what he had said on the ride up to Jupiter, that "If any one pulls a gun on him, he would shoot them if they don't shoot him" first (R. 3439). These facts are sufficient to support premeditation on the part of Appellant, Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So.2d 1072, 1076, (Fla. 1983) (The defendant stated to the three hostages that he was going to shoot them after shooting the police); Sireci v. State, supra, 399 So.2d at 967, the defendant stated that he was not going to leave any witness to testify against him; Williams v. State, 249 So.2d 743, 745 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971) (The defendant told the rape victim, he would use the gun on anybody who got in his way.)

The facts in this case are even more compelling in support of premeditation when the testimony of the firearms expert is

- 24 -

taken into consideration. Greg Scala testified that he examined That normally, this type of the 12-gauge, sawed-off shotgun. shotgun magazine can hold two shot shells (R. 2680), but the extractor of this particular shotgun was not extracting the shell properly after it was fired. This caused the spent shot So in order to shoot the shell to remain in the chamber. shotgun twice, the Appellant had to manually pry out the first spent shell and manually reload through the magazine again before firing the second shot (R. 2681-82). Officer Scala testified that this procedure of reloading the shotgun through the magazine was difficult even with a removed fired shot shell from the chamber (R. 2682).

Officer Scala testified that to shoot the shotgun twice, Appellant must have had to shoot once, stop, and make a separate **conscious** effort to reload and prepare the gun to fire the second time (R. 2684-85). The shotgun was in generally poor condition (R. 2685), so even someone familiar with the shotgun in order to reload the shotgun, the perpetrator would have had to take the separate and **conscious** steps to reload. The reloading procedure would still take about a minute to complete (R. 2684).

The testimony of Holmes, Saffold, all the neighbors who heard the shots, as well as Trooper Bicker, and Michael Bell clearly show that there was at the very least a half minute lapse of time between the first shotgun blast that hit the victim in the lower abdomen and the second fatal shotgun blast that hit the victim in the chest. Both Holmes and Saffold

- 25 -

testified that after the first shot fired by Appellant which disabled the deceased, Appellant ran to take cover behind the Mr. Bell called out to Appellant to come out and lay back car. down on the ground. Appellant acknowledged the call and pretended he was laying down his shotgun, only to buy himself sometime to reload the shotgun and hit Mr. Bell with the second fatal blast (R. 3366-3369, 3436-3437). The evidence also showed that Appellant brought the shotgun with him when he came out of the car and laid it next to him, hidden from the victim's view. Appellant then feigned stomach cramps in order to turn around and have a better aim when shooting Mr. Bell. Finally when Appellant found the first opportunity, and while still on the ground, he turned on his side and shot the fatal shot that killed Mr. Bell (R. 3436).

It has been held by this Court that where, as here, a person strikes another with a deadly weapon and inflicts a mortal wound, the very act of striking such person with such weapon in such manner is sufficient to warrant a jury in finding that the person striking the blow intended the result which followed, <u>Buford v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 943, 949 (Fla. 1981). <u>See also, Cochran v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 928, 930 (Fla. 1989); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 133 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1961); <u>McConnehead v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (premeditation may be inferred from the nature of the weapon used, ... and the nature and manner of the wounds.)

Appellant's position that he shot the deceased in self defense is further belied by the facts in this case. It is

- 26 -

evident from the record that Mr. Bell only wanted to retain the four individuals that were trying to steal his car until the police arrived. Appellant, however, had no intention of remaining on the ground awaiting for the police to apprehend him, and he was going to shoot Mr. Bell, or anyone that got in his way. The testimony presented by Saffold and Holmes was that although Mr. Bell allegedly threatened to shoot Appellant in the anyone moved, Mr. Bell never shot at Appellant. head if Allegedly Mr. Bell only shot at Harris when Harris ran. Thus, the record shows that Appellant could have remained on the ground awaiting the arrival of the police without any danger of Appellant, however, had made the being killed by Mr. Bell. decision that he was going to get away from Mr. Bell, no matter The rule is that, when a suspect endeavors to evade the cost. prosecution by flight, such fact may be shown in evidence as one of the circumstances from which guilt be may inferred, Spinkellink, supra, 313 So.2d at 670.

Since the State presented sufficient competent evidence which is inconsistent with Appellant's theory of events, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal, and the jury verdict of premeditated murder should be affirmed, <u>Law v. State</u>, 14 FLW 387, 388 (Fla. July 27, 1989), Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984).

2. <u>Special Verdict of Premeditated Murder</u>.

Appellant argues that he is entitled to a reversal of the first degree murder conviction because the trial court denied a defense request that a special verdict be utilized where the

- 27 -

jury could indicate whether the conviction for first degree murder was based upon a finding of premeditation <u>or</u> upon a felony murder theory. However as argued above (<u>infra</u>, at page 20), a special verdict is not required, under Florida Law, to determine whether a defendant's first degree murder conviction is based upon premeditated murder, felony murder, or accomplice liability, <u>Buford v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 358. <u>See also</u>, <u>Knight v.</u> <u>State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and its progeny up to <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, <u>____</u> So.2d ____ (Fla. No. 72,277, April 5, 1990). Further, as this Court pointed out in Green v. State, supra, 475 So.2d at 236:

> [T] his Court, in its opinion adopting the amended jury instructions, expressly the recommendation rejected of the Supreme Court Committee Jury on Instructions in Criminal Cases that we recede from Knight and require specific allegations of felony murder in an indictment. In the Matter of Use by Trial Courts of Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594, 597 (Fla. 1981).

Appellant's reliance on <u>Mills v. Maryland</u>, 486 U.S. ____, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988) is misplaced. That decision merely holds that jury instructions given during capital <u>sentencing</u> proceedings which imply that the jurors to return a life sentence must make unanimous findings as to the existence of particular mitigating circumstances, but not as to the existence of aggravating circumstances, are unconstitutional under the Maryland death sentencing statute.

In any event, in the instant case, because there was sufficient evidence to support a finding of premeditation, this issue is moot, <u>Cochran v. state</u>, supra, n. 1, at 930.

B. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION OF FELONY MURDER.

Appellant claims the State failed to prove Appellant intended to burglarize the decedent's TransAm, arguing that his mere presence at the scene is not sufficient to convict him as a principal in the commission of the burglary. It is settled law, however, that a person who is charged in an indictment with commission of a crime may be convicted on proof that he aided and abetted in the commission of such crime, <u>State v. Hall</u>, 403 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1981); <u>State v. Roby</u>, 246 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1971); <u>M.D.V. v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 944 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). Thus the evidence heard by the jury at trial clearly belies Appellants allegations.

The co-perpetrator Saffold testified that while the four of them were in Appellant's car, Harris said "let's go get a car." Appellant was driving his car, and had just armed (R. 3345). himself with the shotgun he had taken from his house (R. 3343). When they arrived at Jupiter Plantation, Appellant accompanied Harris to the TransAm, and remained with Harris while he burglarized and attempted to hot-wire the TransAm (R. 3352-55). Holmes corroborated Saffold's testimony. Holmes testified that Appellant drove up to Jupiter from Riviera Beach (R. 3422). When they arrived at the Jupiter Plantation, Appellant drove slowly through the apartments when they decided to try to get a car (R. 3423). Holmes testified that originally Harris, Appellant and Saffold approached the TransAm (R. 3423), then when Saffold came back to sit in the car with Holmes, Appellant remained with Harris, while Harris burglarized the TransAm (R. 3425). The

- 29 -

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